# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

**WASHINGTON, DC 20549** 

# FORM S-3 REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# Yum China Holdings, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 7100 Corporate Drive Plano, Texas 75024 United States of America 81-2421743 (IRS Employer Identification No.) Yum China Building 20 Tian Yao Qiao Road Shanghai 200030 People's Republic of China

(469) 980-2898 (Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Shella Ng
Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary
Yum China Holdings, Inc.
7100 Corporate Drive Plano, Texas 75024
(469) 980-2898

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

With copies to:
Lindsey A. Smith
Sidley Austin LLP
One South Dearborn Street
Chicago, Illinois 60603
(312) 853-7000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the publi	<b>c:</b> From time to time after this registration statement becomes effective.
--	--

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box:  $\Box$ 

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box:

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  $\Box$ 

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act. check the following box.

pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box. 

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities

pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box. 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	Ш
Non-accelerated filer	$\square$ (Do not check if a small reporting company)	Smaller reporting company	
		Emerging growth company	

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of Securities Act.  $\square$ 

# CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

		Proposed Maximum	Proposed Maximum	Amount of
Title of Each Class of	Amount to be	Offering Price Per	Aggregate Offering	Registration Fee
Securities to be Registered	Registered (1)	Unit (2)	Price (2)	(2)(3)
Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share	5,130,000 shares	\$40.60	\$208,278,000	\$25,931

- Pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), this Registration Statement shall also cover additional shares of the registrant's Common Stock which become issuable by reason of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization or other similar transaction effected without the receipt of consideration which results in an increase in the number of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the registrant.
- Estimated solely for purposes of calculating the registration fee in accordance with Rule 457(c) and Rule 457(h) under the Securities Act based on the average of the high and low reported per share sales prices of the registrant's Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on February 20, 2018.

  Pursuant to Rule 457(p) under the Securities Act, the registrant is carrying forward \$2,792 of unused filing fees previously paid by it in connection with unsold securities registered pursuant to Registration Statement No. 333-213719 initially filed by the registrant on September 21, 2016.

# **PROSPECTUS**



# Yum China Holdings, Inc.

The 5,130,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, covered by this prospectus may be acquired by participants in the Yum China Holdings, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (the "Plan") upon the exercise of certain options to purchase shares of common stock of Yum China Holdings, Inc. "Yum China"), the exercise of certain stock appreciation rights with respect to such common stock and upon vesting of certain awards issued pursuant to the Plan. All awards are subject to the terms of the Plan and the applicable award agreement. Any proceeds received by Yum China from the exercise of stock ptions covered by the Plan will be used for general corporate purposes.
Yum China's common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "YUMC."
In reviewing this prospectus, you should carefully consider the matters described under the caption " <u>Risk Factors</u> " beginning on page 3.
Neither the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved these securities or letermined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
The date of this prospectus is February 27, 2018.

# **Table of Contents**

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY	1
THE OFFERING	2
RISK FACTORS	3
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	3
USE OF PROCEEDS	4
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	4
YUM CHINA HOLDINGS, INC. LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN	5
MATERIAL CHINA TAX CONSEQUENCES	11
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK	13
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE	17
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	17
LEGAL MATTERS	18
EXPERTS	18

#### **Presentation of Information**

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this prospectus to "Yum China," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Yum China Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to "China" mean the "People's Republic of China" or "mainland China," excluding Hong Kong, Taiwan and Macau. "RMB" or "Renminbi" refers to the legal currency of China.

# Trademarks, Trade Names, Service Marks and Restaurants

The Company owns or has rights to use the trademarks, service marks and trade names that it uses in conjunction with the operation of its business. Some of the more important trademarks that the Company owns or has rights to use that are included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus include: "KFC, Pizza Hut, Taco Bell, Little Sheep and East Dawning," which may be registered or trademarked in the United States or other jurisdictions. We license the KFC, Pizza Hut and Taco Bell brands and related intellectual property under a master license agreement with Yum! Brands, Inc. ("YUM") and, unless the context otherwise requires, references herein to "our" or the "Company's" brands or other intellectual property rights include references to the brands and other intellectual property rights we license from YUM. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to "our" or the "Company's" restaurants or restaurant system include references to restaurants owned or franchised by us. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to our "franchisees" are references to third parties to whom we have granted the right to operate under intellectual property owned by us or the intellectual property we license from YUM and have the right to sublicense under the master license agreement and a "franchise" is the grant of such a third-party right.

# **Market and Industry Data**

Although we are responsible for all of the disclosure contained in this prospectus, this prospectus contains industry, market and competitive position data that are based on industry publications and studies conducted by third parties. The industry publications and third-party studies generally state that the information that they contain has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable.

#### PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following is a summary of certain material information included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. This summary may not contain all of the information that may be important to you. To better understand the Company's business and financial position, you should carefully review this entire prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein.

# **Our Company**

Yum China Holdings, Inc. is the largest restaurant company in China, with over 7,900 restaurants as of year-end 2017. Our growing restaurant base consists of China's leading restaurant concepts, including KFC, Pizza Hut, East Dawning, Little Sheep and Taco Bell. We have the exclusive right to operate and sublicense the KFC, Pizza Hut and Taco Bell brands in China (excluding Hong Kong, Taiwan and Macau), and own the East Dawning and Little Sheep concepts outright. We were the first major global restaurant brand to enter China in 1987, and we have developed deep operating experience in the market. We have since grown to become one of China's largest restaurant developers covering over 1,200 cities as of December 31, 2017.

As of December 31, 2017, we owned and operated approximately 90% of our restaurants. Franchisees contribute to our revenues on an ongoing basis through the payment of royalties based on a percentage of sales. KFC is the leading quick-service restaurant ("QSR") brand in China in terms of system sales and number of restaurants. As of December 31, 2017, KFC operated over 5,400 restaurants in over 1,200 cities across China. Measured by number of restaurants, we believe KFC has a two-to-one lead over the nearest Western QSR competitor in China and KFC continues to grow in both large and small cities. Pizza Hut is the leading casual dining restaurant ("CDR") concept in China as measured by system sales and number of restaurants. We believe Pizza Hut, with over 2,100 restaurants in over 400 cities as of December 31, 2017, has an approximately four-to-one lead in terms of number of restaurants over its nearest Western CDR competitor in China.

#### **Separation from YUM**

The Company separated from YUM on October 31, 2016 (the "separation"), becoming an independent publicly traded company as a result of a pro rata distribution of all outstanding shares of Yum China common stock to shareholders of YUM. On October 31, 2016, YUM's shareholders of record as of 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on October 19, 2016 received one share of Yum China common stock for every one share of YUM common stock held as of the record date. Yum China's common stock began trading "regular way" under the ticker symbol "YUMC" on the New York Stock Exchange on November 1, 2016.

# **Corporate Information**

Yum China Holdings, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on April 1, 2016 for the purpose of holding YUM's China business in anticipation of the separation and distribution. Until the business was transferred to it in connection with the separation, Yum China Holdings, Inc. had no operations. The Company's U.S. office is located at 7100 Corporate Drive, Plano, Texas, 75024, which carries on the key book-keeping, record-keeping and day-to-day management functions of the holding company. The Company's operational headquarters is located at Yum China Building, 20 Tian Yao Qiao Road, Shanghai, 200030, People's Republic of China, where its senior management team is based. Our telephone number is 1-469-980-2898.

The Company maintains an internet site at www.yumchina.com. The Company's website, and the information contained therein, or connected thereto, is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

# THE OFFERING

Securities Offered 5,130,000 shares of common stock.

Use of Proceeds The Company intends to use any proceeds received by it from the exercise of stock options

covered by the Yum China Holdings, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan for general corporate

purposes.

Listing Yum China's common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol

"YUMC."

#### RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves certain risks. Before making an investment decision, you should carefully read and consider the information set forth under the heading "Risk Factors" in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K (which information is incorporated by reference herein), as well as the other information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. See "Where You Can Find More Information" elsewhere in this prospectus. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. If any of these risks and uncertainties develops into actual events, these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. In such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline.

#### CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain "forward-looking statements." Forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. These statements often include words such as "may," "will," "estimate," "intend," "seek," "expect," "project," "anticipate," "believe," "plan," "could," "target," "predict," "likely," "should," "forecast," "outlook," "model," "continue," "ongoing" or other similar terminology. Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations, estimates, assumptions or projections concerning future results or events. Forward-looking statements are neither predictions nor guarantees of future events, circumstances or performance and are inherently subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause our actual results and events to differ materially from those indicated by those forward-looking statements. We cannot assure you that our expectations, estimates, assumptions or projections will be achieved. Numerous factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. In addition, other risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial could affect the accuracy of any of our forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements should be evaluated with the understanding of their inherent uncertainty. You should consult our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (including the information set forth under the captions "Forward-Looking Statements" and "Risk Factors" included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K) for additional information regarding factors that could affect our financial and other results. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. We disclaim any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent events or circumstances,

# **USE OF PROCEEDS**

Any proceeds received by Yum China from the exercise of Yum China stock options covered by the Yum China Holdings, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan will be used for general corporate purposes.

# PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

In connection with the separation, outstanding awards granted under YUM's equity compensation programs (whether held by YUM or Yum China employees or other participants) were converted into adjusted awards based on shares of YUM common stock, shares of Yum China common stock or both. Those adjusted awards that represent the right to acquire Yum China common stock, which are referred to as "Converted Awards," were granted by Yum China under the Yum China Holdings, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan, in accordance with the terms of the employee matters agreement that Yum China entered into with YUM in connection with the separation. The registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part covers shares of Yum China common stock issued pursuant to Converted Awards that were granted to individuals who, at the time of the distribution, were not employed by or serving on the board of directors of YUM. The registration statement does not cover any shares of Yum China common stock issued pursuant to Converted Awards that were granted to any individuals who, upon completion of the distribution, were employed by or serving on the board of directors of either YUM or Yum China, or any other awards that Yum China has granted or may grant under the Yum China Holdings, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan following the separation and distribution.

The Company expects that the expenses related to this offering will be approximately \$77,931.

# YUM CHINA HOLDINGS, INC. LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

The Company adopted, and YUM in its then capacity as the Company's sole stockholder approved, the Yum China Holdings, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). The Plan became effective as of October 31, 2016 and will continue in effect until terminated by our board of directors; provided, however, that no new awards may be granted under the Plan on or after October 31, 2026.

# **Purpose**

The purposes of the Plan are (i) to attract and retain persons eligible to participate in the Plan; (ii) to motivate participants, by means of appropriate incentives, to achieve long-range goals; (iii) to provide incentive compensation opportunities that are competitive with those of other similar companies; (iv) to align the interests of participants with those of our stockholders; and (v) to issue awards pursuant to and in accordance with the employee matters agreement that Yum China entered into with YUM in connection with the separation (the "EMA"). To accomplish these purposes, the Plan authorizes the award of stock options (including incentive stock options ("ISOs") and non-qualified stock options ("NQOs")), stock appreciation rights ("SARs"), "Full Value Awards" (including restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance shares and performance unit awards) and cash incentive awards, each as described below. The Plan also provides for the grant of awards with respect to our common stock as provided in the EMA ("EMA Awards").

# **Eligibility**

Any officers, directors or other employees of Yum China or one of our subsidiaries; consultants, independent contractors or agents of Yum China or one of our subsidiaries; and persons who are expected to become officers, employees, directors, consultants, independent contractors or agents of Yum China or one of our subsidiaries (but effective no earlier than the date on which such individual begins to provide services to us or one of our subsidiaries), including in any case, our non-employee directors ("Outside Directors") are eligible to participate in the Plan, as selected by the Committee (as described below). Upon receiving a grant of an award under the Plan, an eligible individual shall be a "participant" in the Plan. EMA Awards will also be granted to those individuals who are entitled to them pursuant to the EMA, as described below.

# Administration of the Plan

The Plan is administered by a "Committee," which generally means the compensation committee of our board of directors. For purposes of the Plan and subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Committee has the authority and discretion (a) to select from among the eligible individuals those persons who shall receive awards under the Plan, (b) to determine the time or times of receipt, (c) to determine the types of awards and the number of shares covered by the awards, (d) to establish the terms, conditions, performance criteria, restrictions and other provisions of such awards, and, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, to cancel or suspend awards or accelerate the exercisability or vesting of any award, (e) to the extent that the Committee determines that the restrictions imposed by the Plan preclude the achievement of the material purposes of the awards in jurisdictions outside the United States, to modify those restrictions as the Committee determines to be necessary or appropriate to conform to applicable requirements or practices of jurisdictions outside of the United States, (f) to conclusively interpret the Plan, (g) to establish, amend and rescind any rules and regulations relating to the Plan, (h) to determine the terms and provisions of any award agreement made pursuant to the Plan and (i) to make all other determinations that may be necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan.

Except as prohibited by applicable law or as necessary to preserve exemptions under the securities laws, the Committee may delegate any of its duties under the Plan to such agents as it determines from time to time (which delegation may be revoked at any time).

#### Shares Available under the Plan

We have reserved for issuance under the Plan 45,000,000 shares of our common stock. Shares available under the Plan may be authorized but unissued or shares currently held or subsequently acquired by us as treasury shares (to the extent permitted by law), including shares purchased in the open market or in private transactions.

Each share of common stock delivered in respect of a Full Value Award is counted as covering two shares except that, in the case of restricted stock or restricted stock units delivered pursuant to EMA Awards, each share shall be counted as covering one share. To the extent any shares of stock covered by an award are not delivered to a participant or beneficiary because the award is forfeited or canceled, used to satisfy the applicable tax withholding obligation or settled in cash, such shares shall not be deemed to have been delivered for purposes of determining the maximum number of shares of stock available for delivery under the Plan. If the exercise price of any stock option granted under the Plan is satisfied by tendering shares of our common stock (by either actual delivery or by attestation, including net exercise), only the number of shares of stock issued net of the shares tendered shall be deemed delivered for purposes of the Plan.

#### Other Share Limitations

The following limitations shall apply under the Plan: (a) the number of shares available for grants of ISOs under the Plan is equal to 45,000,000; (b) the maximum number of shares that may be covered by stock options or SARs granted to any one individual during any five calendar-year period shall be 9,000,000; and (c) no Outside Director may be granted during any calendar year an award or awards having a value determined on the grant date in excess of \$1,500,000.

# Adjustments

In the event of a change in corporate capitalization (such as a stock split or stock dividend), a corporate transaction (such as a reorganization, reclassification, merger or consolidation or separation), other changes in our corporate structure or a distribution to stockholders (other than a cash dividend that is not an extraordinary cash dividend) that affects our outstanding shares of common stock, the Committee shall make such equitable adjustments, as it determines are necessary and appropriate, in: (a) the number and type of shares (or other property) with respect to which awards may be granted under the Plan; (b) the number and type of shares (or other property) subject to outstanding awards; (c) the grant or exercise price with respect to outstanding awards; (d) the limitations on shares reserved for issuance under the Plan and the limitations on the number of shares (or dollar amount) that can be subject to awards granted to certain individuals or within a specified time period; and (e) the terms, conditions or restrictions of outstanding awards and/or award agreements.

# Awards under the Plan

#### Generally

The Committee shall designate the participants to whom awards are to be granted and the type of awards to be granted and shall determine the number of shares of our common stock (or cash) subject to each award and the other terms and conditions thereof, not inconsistent with the Plan. Awards may be settled through the delivery of shares of our common stock, cash, the granting of replacement awards or a combination thereof as the Committee shall determine. Any award settlement, including payment deferrals, may be subject to such conditions, restrictions and contingencies as the Committee shall determine.

# Stock Options and SARs

The grant of a stock option under the Plan entitles the participant to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise price and during a specified time established by the Committee. A stock option may be either an ISO or a NQO, as determined in the discretion of the Committee. An "ISO" is a stock option that is intended to satisfy

the requirements applicable to an "incentive stock option" described in Code Section 422(b) and may only be granted to employees of Yum China or our eligible subsidiaries. An "NQO" is a stock option that is not intended to be an ISO or does not satisfy the requirements to be an ISO. An SAR entitles the participant to receive, in cash or stock, value equal to (or otherwise based on) the excess of: (a) the fair market value of a specified number of shares of our common stock at the time of exercise; over (b) an exercise price established by the Committee.

The "exercise price" of each stock option or SAR granted shall be established by the Committee or shall be determined by a method established by the Committee at the time the stock option or SAR is granted, except that the exercise price shall not be less than the fair market value of a share of stock on the date of grant (except in limited circumstances such as substitute awards in the context of a corporate transaction or EMA Awards).

The exercise price of a stock option shall be payable in cash or by tendering (including by way of a net exercise), by either actual delivery of shares or by attestation, shares of stock acceptable to the Committee, and valued at fair market value as of the day of exercise, or in any combination thereof, as determined by the Committee or, if permitted by the Committee, by the participant's irrevocably authorizing a third party to sell shares of stock (or a sufficient portion of the shares) acquired upon exercise of the stock option and remit to us a sufficient portion of the sale proceeds to pay the entire exercise price and any tax withholding resulting from such exercise.

In no event shall a stock option or SAR be exercisable later than the ten-year anniversary of the date on which the stock option or SAR is granted (or such shorter period required by law or the rules of any stock exchange on which the stock is listed).

Except for either adjustments in connection with corporate transactions (discussed above) or reductions of the exercise price approved by our stockholders, the exercise price for any outstanding stock option or SAR may not be decreased after the date of grant nor may an outstanding stock option or SAR granted under the Plan be surrendered to us as consideration for the grant of a replacement stock option or SAR with a lower exercise price or a Full Value Award. Except as approved by our stockholders, in no event shall any stock option or SAR granted under the Plan be surrendered to us in consideration for a cash payment if, at the time of such surrender, the exercise price of the stock option or SAR is greater than the then current fair market value of a share of our common stock.

# **Full Value Awards**

A "Full Value Award" is a grant of one or more shares of our common stock or a right to receive one or more shares of our common stock in the future (including restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares and performance units) that is contingent on continuing service, the achievement of performance objectives during a specified performance period or other restrictions as determined by the Committee. The grant of Full Value Awards may also be subject to such other conditions, restrictions and contingencies, as determined by the Committee. Full Value Awards made to employees may be subject to minimum vesting requirements depending on the terms and purposes of the awards.

# **Cash Incentive Awards**

A "Cash Incentive Award" is the grant of a right to receive a payment of cash (or in the discretion of the Committee, shares of stock having value equivalent to the cash otherwise payable) that is contingent on achievement of performance objectives over a specified period established by the Committee. The grant of Cash Incentive Awards may also be subject to such other conditions, restrictions and contingencies, as determined by the Committee.

# EMA Awards

As of October 31, 2016, the Committee granted "EMA Awards" to each individual who was entitled to an award with respect to our common stock pursuant to the terms of the EMA or who was otherwise entitled to receive a

share of our common stock pursuant to the EMA. All EMA Awards were made in accordance with the terms of the EMA. With respect to EMA Awards, the provisions of the EMA relating to such awards supersede any other Plan provisions.

The number of shares of our common stock subject to an EMA Award granted to an EMA participant, and, to the extent applicable, the exercise price of the EMA Award, was determined in accordance with the applicable provision of the EMA and is otherwise subject to the same terms and conditions (including vesting, settlement and termination) as applied to the corresponding YUM award to which the EMA Award related and is otherwise subject to the terms and conditions of the EMA. Any condition related to termination of a participant's employment or service with YUM or its affiliates or related to a determination by the committee charged with administration of the YUM plans was based on an otherwise identical condition related to the termination of a participant's employment or service with us and our subsidiaries or a determination by the Committee under the Plan, respectively, and as applicable.

# **Change in Control**

Subject to the provisions relating to adjustments in the context of corporate transactions (described above) and except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the award agreement reflecting the applicable award, if a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan) occurs prior to the date on which an award is vested and prior to the participant's separation from service and if the participant's employment is involuntarily terminated by us or our subsidiaries (other than for cause) on or within two years following the Change in Control, then (a) all outstanding stock options and SARs (regardless of whether in tandem with a SAR or stock option, as applicable) shall become fully exercisable and (b) all Full Value Awards shall become fully vested and the Committee shall determine the extent to which performance conditions are met in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the applicable award agreement. A YUM Change of Control will be treated as a Change in Control under the Plan with respect to vesting of EMA Awards held by YUM employees and former employees.

# Transferability

Unless otherwise determined by the Committee and expressly provided for in an award agreement, no award or any other benefit under the Plan shall be assignable or otherwise transferable except by will or the laws of descent and distribution.

# Withholding

All distributions under the Plan are subject to withholding of all applicable taxes, and the Committee may condition the delivery of any shares or other benefits under the Plan on satisfaction of the applicable withholding obligations. The Committee, in its discretion, and subject to such requirements as the Committee may impose prior to the occurrence of such withholding, may permit such withholding obligations to be satisfied through cash payment by the participant, through the surrender of shares of stock which the participant already owns, or through the surrender of shares of stock to which the participant is otherwise entitled under the Plan. However, stock that has been held by the participant or stock to which the participant is entitled under the Plan may only be used to satisfy the minimum tax withholding required by applicable law (or other rates of withholding that will not have a negative accounting impact).

# **Participants Outside the United States**

The Committee may grant awards to eligible persons who are foreign nationals on such terms and conditions different from those specified in the Plan as may, in the judgment of the Committee, be necessary or desirable to foster and promote achievement of the purposes of the Plan. In furtherance of such purposes, the Committee may make such modifications, amendments, procedures and subplans as may be necessary or advisable to comply with provisions of laws in other countries or jurisdictions in which we or any of our subsidiaries operates or has employees. The foregoing provisions may not be applied to increase the share limitations of the Plan or to otherwise change any provision of the Plan that would otherwise require the approval of our stockholders.

# **Restrictions, Misconduct and Recoupment**

The Committee, in its discretion, may impose such restrictions on shares of stock acquired pursuant to the Plan, whether pursuant to the exercise of a stock option or SAR, settlement of a Full Value Award or otherwise, as it determines to be desirable, including restrictions relating to disposition of the shares and forfeiture restrictions based on service, performance, stock ownership by the participant, conformity with our recoupment, compensation recovery or clawback policies and such other factors as the Committee determines to be appropriate. Unless otherwise specified by the Committee, any awards under the Plan and any shares of stock issued pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to our recoupment, compensation recovery and clawback policies as in effect from time to time.

If the Committee determines that a present or former employee has (a) used for profit or disclosed to unauthorized persons, confidential or trade secrets of the Company or our subsidiaries, (b) breached any contract with or violated any fiduciary obligation to the Company or our subsidiaries, or (c) engaged in any conduct which the Committee determines is injurious to us or our subsidiaries, the Committee may cause that employee to forfeit his or her outstanding awards under the Plan. This provision does not apply during any period where there is a potential Change in Control in effect or following a Change in Control.

#### Amendment and Termination of the Plan

Our board of directors may, at any time, amend or terminate the Plan (and the Committee may amend any award agreement). However, no amendment or termination of the Plan or amendment of any award agreement may, in the absence of written consent to the change by the affected participant or beneficiary, if applicable, adversely affect the rights of any participant or beneficiary under any award granted under the Plan prior to the date of such amendment or termination. Adjustments pursuant to corporate transactions and restructurings are not subject to the foregoing limitations. In addition, amendments to the provisions of the Plan that prohibit the repricing of stock options and SARs, amendments expanding the group of eligible individuals, or amendments increasing the aggregate number of shares reserved under the Plan, the shares that may be issued in the form of ISOs, the individual limits on awards and the limitations on awards to Outside Directors will not be effective unless approved by our stockholders. In addition, no amendment shall be made to the Plan without the approval of our stockholders if such approval is required by law or the rules of any stock exchange on which our common stock is listed.

# U.S. Federal Income Tax Implications of the Plan

The discussion that follows is a summary, based on U.S. federal tax laws and regulations presently in effect, of some significant U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to awards under the Plan. The applicable laws and regulations are subject to change, and the discussion does not purport to be a complete description of the U.S. federal income tax aspects of the Plan. This summary does not discuss state, local or foreign laws.

Stock Options. The tax treatment of a stock option depends on whether the option is a NQO or an ISO.

The grant of a NQO will not result in taxable income to the participant. Except as described below, the participant will realize ordinary income at the time of exercise of a NQO in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares of stock acquired over the exercise price for those shares of common stock.

The grant of an ISO will not result in taxable income to the participant. The exercise of an ISO will not result in taxable income to the participant provided that the participant was, without a break in service, an employee of Yum China or any of our eligible subsidiaries (determined under tax rules) during the period beginning on the date of the grant of the ISO and ending on the date three months prior to the date of exercise (one year prior to the date of exercise if the participant is disabled, as that term is defined in the Code). The excess of the fair market value of the shares of common stock at the time of the exercise of an ISO over the exercise price is

included in the calculation of the participant's alternative minimum taxable income for the tax year in which the ISO is exercised.

If the participant does not sell or otherwise dispose of the shares of common stock within two years from the date of the grant of the ISO or within one year after receiving the transfer of such shares of common stock, then, upon disposition of such shares of common stock, any amount realized in excess of the exercise price will be taxed to the participant as capital gain.

If the foregoing holding period requirements are not met, the participant will generally realize ordinary income, at the time of the disposition of the shares of common stock, in an amount equal to the lesser of (a) the excess of the fair market value of the shares of common stock on the date of exercise over the exercise price, or (b) the excess, if any, of the amount realized upon disposition of the shares of common stock over the exercise price. Special rules apply if an option is exercised through the exchange of previously acquired stock.

*SARs.* A participant will not be deemed to have received any income upon the grant of a SAR. Generally, when a SAR is exercised, the excess of the fair market value of the shares of common stock on the date of exercise over the exercise price will be taxable to a participant as ordinary income.

**Full Value Awards**. The U.S. federal income tax consequences of a Full Value Award will depend on the type of award. The tax treatment of the grant of shares of common stock depends on whether the shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture (determined under Code rules) at the time of the grant. If the shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, the participant will not recognize taxable income at the time of the grant and when the restrictions on the shares lapse (that is, when the shares are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture), the participant will recognize ordinary taxable income in an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares at that time less the price paid, if any, for such shares. If the shares are not subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture or if the participant elects to be taxed at the time of the grant of such shares under Code Section 83(b), the participant will recognize taxable income at the time of the grant of shares in an amount equal to the fair market value of such shares at that time, determined without regard to any of the restrictions, less the price paid, if any, for such shares.

If the shares are forfeited before the restrictions lapse, the participant will not be entitled to any deduction on account thereof. The participant's tax basis in the shares is the amount recognized by him or her as income attributable to such shares. Gain or loss recognized by the participant on a subsequent disposition of any such shares is capital gain or loss if the shares are otherwise capital assets.

In the case of restricted stock units or performance stock units, the participant generally will not have taxable income upon the grant of the award. Participants will generally recognize ordinary income when the award is settled. At that time, the participant will recognize taxable income equal to the cash or the then fair market value of the shares issuable in settlement of such award, and such amount will be the tax basis for any shares received.

Section 162(m) of the Code. Section 162(m) of the Code generally limits to \$1 million the amount that a publicly held corporation may deduct each year for U.S. federal income tax purpose with respect to the Company's chief executive officer, chief financial officer and certain other current and former executive officers of the Company.

# MATERIAL CHINA TAX CONSEQUENCES

The following is a summary of material Chinese income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of our common stock. This summary is based on China Enterprise Income Tax Law ("EIT Law"), Implementation Regulations of China Enterprise Income Tax Law, Chinese Individual Income Tax Law, Implementation Regulations of Chinese Individual Income Tax Law, the Chinese State Administration of Taxation ("SAT") Bulletin on Several Issues of Enterprise Income Tax on Income Arising from Indirect Transfers of Property by Non-resident Enterprises ("Bulletin 7"), Bulletin on the Administrative Measures in respect of Individual Income Tax on Income arising from Equity Transfers, rulings and other administrative pronouncements issued by SAT and judicial decisions, all as in effect on the date of this prospectus, and all of which are subject to differing interpretation and change at any time, possibly with retroactive effect. This summary applies only to holders of our common stock that are not residents of China. This summary is for general information only and is not tax advice. This summary does not address any tax considerations under laws other than Chinese income tax laws. The ownership and disposition of our common stock may be taxable under such other tax laws, and all holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the applicability and effect of any such tax laws.

# Treatment of the Company as a China Resident Enterprise

Under the EIT Law and its implementation rules, an enterprise established outside China with a "de facto management body" within China is considered a China resident enterprise for Chinese enterprise income tax purposes. The Company and each Company subsidiary that is organized outside of China intend to conduct their management functions in a manner that does not cause them to be China resident enterprises, including by carrying on their day-to-day management activities and maintaining their key assets and records, such as resolutions of their boards of directors and resolutions of stockholders, outside of China. As such, we do not believe that the Company or any of its non-Chinese subsidiaries should be considered a China resident enterprise for purposes of the EIT Law, and we believe that the Company and its non-Chinese subsidiaries should not be subject to Chinese enterprise income tax on that basis. However, given the uncertainty regarding the application of the EIT Law to the Company, its subsidiaries and their respective future operations, there can be no assurances that the Company or any of its non-Chinese subsidiaries will not be treated as a China resident enterprise now or in the future.

#### Chinese Tax Consequences of Distributions to Company Stockholders

No Chinese withholding tax should apply to dividends paid by the Company to non-Chinese stockholders, provided the Company is not considered to be a China resident enterprise.

If the Company is considered to be a China resident enterprise, dividends paid by the Company to non-Chinese stockholders will generally be subject to a withholding tax at a rate of 10%, or an individual income tax at a rate of 20% if the stockholder is an individual, unless otherwise reduced or exempted in accordance with an applicable income tax treaty. The Company will have primary responsibility for Chinese tax filings with respect to any such withholding taxes, and non-Chinese stockholders generally should not have any Chinese tax filing obligations in this regard provided that the Company satisfies its obligations as the tax withholding agent.

# Chinese Tax Consequences to Stockholders of Dispositions of Company Shares

Gains derived from an indirect transfer of Chinese interests by a non-resident enterprise may be subject to Chinese enterprise income tax at a rate of 10%, if such arrangement does not have reasonable commercial purpose and the transferor avoids payment of Chinese enterprise income tax. Under current law, this tax does not apply to gains recognized by individual stockholders. However, in practice there have been a few reported cases of individuals being taxed on the indirect transfer of Chinese interests, and the law could be changed so as to apply to individual stockholders, possibly with retroactive effect. For Company stockholders that are not individuals, a transfer of Company shares may be treated as an indirect transfer of Chinese interests.

An exception to the Chinese enterprise income tax applies if (a) the selling non-resident enterprise recognizes the relevant gain by purchasing and selling equity of the same listed enterprise in the open market (the "listed enterprise exception") or (b) the selling non-resident enterprise would have been exempted from income tax in China pursuant to applicable tax treaties or tax arrangements, if it had directly held and transferred such Chinese interests that were indirectly transferred. If shares of our common stock are not treated as acquired in an open market purchase, the listed enterprise exception will not be available. Similarly, if shares of our common stock are disposed of in transactions other than open market sales, such sales would not qualify for the listed enterprise exception. If the listed enterprise exception does not apply, non-individual stockholders may be subject to 10% Chinese enterprise income tax on any gains recognized, unless a treaty exception applies.

In addition to the listed enterprise exception, Company stockholders that are not individuals may be exempt from the Chinese enterprise income tax with respect to the sale of our common stock if they are tax resident in a country or region that has a tax treaty or arrangement with China that provides for a capital gains tax exemption and they qualify for that exemption.

Company stockholders that are not individuals and are not eligible for the listed enterprise exception or a treaty exemption may also be subject to Chinese tax filing obligations in respect of any such transactions. In addition, the buyers of such shares may also be subject to Chinese tax filing obligations in respect of any such transactions and may be required to withhold the Chinese capital gains tax payable by the seller for such shares.

Finally, as discussed above, in certain circumstances the Company may be treated as a China resident enterprise. If the Company is treated as a China resident enterprise, a non-individual holder of our common stock will generally be subject to Chinese capital gains tax at a tax rate of 10%, while an individual holder of our common stock may be subject to Chinese capital gains tax at a tax rate of 20%, as well as Chinese tax filing obligations, unless otherwise reduced or exempted in accordance with an applicable income tax treaty. In addition, a purchaser of our common stock in such a scenario may be required to withhold the Chinese capital gains tax payable by the seller for such common stock and comply with Chinese tax filing obligations.

THE FOREGOING DISCUSSION IS A SUMMARY OF MATERIAL CHINESE INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF SHARES OF COMPANY COMMON STOCK UNDER CURRENT LAW AND IS FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. ALL HOLDERS OF OUR COMMON STOCK SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF SHARES OF COMPANY COMMON STOCK TO THEM, INCLUDING THE APPLICATION AND EFFECT OF CHINESE TAX LAWS.

# DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following is a summary of the material terms of our capital stock contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, each of which is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. The summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to such documents, which you must read (along with the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL")) for complete information on the Company's capital stock.

#### General

Our authorized capital stock consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share. As of December 31, 2017, 388,860,534.42 shares of our common stock were issued and 384,720,152 shares were outstanding, and no shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding.

#### **Common Stock**

Each holder of Company common stock is entitled to one vote for each share on all matters to be voted upon by the common stockholders, and there are no cumulative voting rights. Subject to any preferential rights of any outstanding preferred stock, holders of our common stock are entitled to receive ratably the dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by our board of directors out of funds legally available for that purpose. If there is a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of our common stock would be entitled to a ratable distribution of our assets remaining after the payment in full of liabilities and any preferential rights of any then-outstanding preferred stock.

Holders of our common stock have no preemptive or conversion rights or other subscription rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to our common stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of our common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.

# **Preferred Stock**

Under the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors is authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by the DGCL, to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series without further action by the holders of our common stock. Our board of directors has the discretion, subject to limitations prescribed by the DGCL and by our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, to determine the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock.

As of December 31, 2017, no shares of our preferred stock were outstanding, and we have no present plans to issue any shares of our preferred stock.

# Anti-Takeover Effects of Various Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Charter and Bylaws

Provisions of DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws could make it more difficult to acquire control of the Company by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise, or to remove incumbent officers and directors. These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage certain types of coercive takeover practices and takeover bids that our board of directors may consider inadequate and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of the Company to first negotiate with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure the Company outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging takeover or acquisition proposals because, among other things, negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute. The Company is subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, an anti-takeover statute. In general, Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a "business combination" with an "interested stockholder" for a period of three years following the time the person became an interested stockholder, unless: (a) prior to such time, the board of directors of such corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder; (b) upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of such corporation at the time the transaction commenced (excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder) the voting stock owned by directors who are also officers or held in employee benefit plans in which the employees do not have a confidential right to tender or vote stock held by the plan); or (c) on or subsequent to such time the business combination is approved by the board of directors of such corporation and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock of such corporation not owned by the interested stockholder. Generally, a "business combination" includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. Generally, a "business combination" includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. Generally, a "business combination" includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. Generally, a "business combination" includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockhol

Classified Board. Our board of directors is currently divided into three classes of equal size. The directors designated as Class I and Class III directors have terms expiring at the 2019 annual meeting of the Company's stockholders. The directors designated as Class II directors have terms expiring at the 2018 annual meeting of the Company's stockholders and, if elected, will serve for a one-year term. Beginning at the 2019 annual meeting of the Company's stockholders, each of our directors will stand for election each year for a one-year term, and our board of directors will therefore no longer be divided into three classes.

At any meeting of stockholders for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, the election will be determined by a majority of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote in the election, with directors not receiving a majority of the votes cast required to tender their resignations for consideration by the board of directors, except that in the case of a contested election, the election will be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote in the election. Before our board of directors is declassified, it would take at least two elections of directors for any individual or group to gain control of our board of directors. Accordingly, while the classified board of directors is in effect, these provisions could discourage a third party from initiating a proxy contest, making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to gain control of the Company.

*Removal of Directors.* Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, for as long as our board of directors is classified, stockholders may only remove our directors for cause. After our board of directors has been fully declassified, stockholders may remove our directors with or without cause.

Amendments to Bylaws. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that such bylaws may be amended by our board of directors or by the affirmative vote of a majority of our stockholders entitled to vote.

Size of Board and Vacancies. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the number of directors on our board of directors will be not less than three nor more than 15 and that the exact number of directors will be fixed by resolution of a majority of our entire board of directors (assuming no vacancies). Any vacancies created on our board of directors resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors or death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from office or other cause will be filled by a majority of our board of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum is present, or by a sole remaining director. Any director appointed to fill a vacancy on our board of directors will be appointed for a term expiring at the next election of the class for which such director has been appointed and until his or her successor has been elected and qualified.

*Special Meetings.* Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that only our board of directors (or the chairman of our board of directors, our chief executive officer or our secretary with the concurrence of a majority of our board of directors) may call special meetings of our stockholders.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation expressly eliminates the right of our stockholders to act by written consent. Accordingly, stockholder action must take place at the annual or a special meeting of our stockholders.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals. Our amended and restated bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and nomination of candidates for election as directors other than nominations made by or at the direction of our board of directors or a committee of our board of directors.

*Proxy Access.* In addition to advance notice procedures, our amended and restated bylaws also include provisions permitting, subject to certain terms and conditions, stockholders owning at least 3% of our outstanding common shares for at least three consecutive years to use our annual meeting proxy statement to nominate a number of director candidates not to exceed 20% of the number of directors in office, subject to reduction in certain circumstances.

*No Cumulative Voting.* The DGCL provides that stockholders do not have the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless the company's certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

*Undesignated Preferred Stock.* The authority that our board of directors possesses to issue preferred stock could potentially be used to discourage attempts by third parties to obtain control of our Company through a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise by making such attempts more difficult or more costly. Our board of directors may be able to issue preferred stock with voting rights or conversion rights that, if exercised, could adversely affect the voting power of the holders of our common stock.

# Limitations on Liability, Indemnification of Officers and Directors and Insurance

The DGCL authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and their stockholders for monetary damages for breaches of directors' fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability for any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, for acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, for unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions described by Section 174 of the DGCL or for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes such an exculpation provision. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that require the Company to indemnify, to the fullest extent allowable under the DGCL, directors or officers for monetary damages for actions taken as a director or officer of the Company or while serving at the Company's request as a director or officer or another position at another corporation or enterprise, as the case may be. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also provides that the Company must, subject to certain conditions, advance reasonable expenses to its directors and officers. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation expressly authorizes the Company to carry directors' and officers' insurance to protect the Company and our directors, officers, employees and agents from certain liabilities.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duties. These provisions may also have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against our directors and officers, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise benefit our company and our stockholders. However, these provisions do not limit or eliminate the Company's rights, or those of any stockholder, to seek non-monetary relief such as an injunction or rescission in

the event of a breach of a director's fiduciary duties. The provisions do not alter the liability of directors under the U.S. federal securities laws. In addition, your investment may be adversely affected to the extent that, in a class action or direct suit, the Company pays the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions.

# **Exclusive Forum**

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless our board of directors otherwise determines, a state court of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director or officer of the Company to the Company or the Company's stockholders, creditors or other constituents, any action asserting a claim against the Company or any director or officer of the Company arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the Company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation or bylaws, or any action asserting a claim against the Company or any director or officer of the Company governed by the internal affairs doctrine. However, if such court dismisses any such action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, the action may be brought in the U.S. federal court for the District of Delaware. Although the Company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes this exclusive forum provision, it is possible that a court could rule that this provision is inapplicable or unenforceable.

#### **Authorized But Unissued Shares**

Our authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock will generally be available for future issuance without the approval of the Company's stockholders. The Company may use such additional shares for a variety of purposes, including future public offerings to raise additional capital, to fund acquisitions and as employee compensation. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of the Company by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.

#### Listing

Yum China's common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "YUMC."

# **Transfer Agent and Registrar**

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.

# INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

The Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") allows us to "incorporate by reference" certain information into this prospectus from certain documents that we file with the SEC. By incorporating by reference, we are disclosing important information to you by referring you to documents we file separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this prospectus, except for information incorporated by reference that is modified or superseded by information contained in this prospectus. These documents contain important information about us, our business and our finances. The following documents filed with the SEC are incorporated by reference into this prospectus, except for any document or portion thereof deemed to be "furnished" and not "filed" in accordance with SEC rules:

- our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on February 27, 2018;
- the description of our common stock contained in our Information Statement, filed as Exhibit 99.1 to our Registration Statement on Form 10 (File No. 001-37762), filed with the SEC on October 6, 2016, including any amendment or report filed for the purpose of updating such description; and
- all documents we file under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, after the date of this prospectus and before the termination of the offering of the securities described in this prospectus (other than any information deemed to have been "furnished" and not "filed" in accordance with SEC rules, including information furnished pursuant to Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of any Current Report on Form 8-K).

The information relating to us contained in this prospectus does not purport to be comprehensive and should be read together with the information contained in the documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

If you request, either orally or in writing, we will provide you with copies of any or all documents that are incorporated by reference herein. Such documents will be provided to you free of charge, but will not contain any exhibits, unless those exhibits are incorporated by reference into the document. Requests can be made by writing to Yum China Holdings, Inc., 7100 Corporate Drive, Plano, Texas 75024, or by telephone to (469) 980-2898. The documents may also be accessed on our website at www.yumchina.com. Information contained on our website or connected thereto is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and you should not consider such information to be part of this prospectus.

# WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any document that we file with the SEC, including the registration statement and the exhibits to the registration statement, at the SEC's Public Reference Room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington D.C. 20549. You may obtain further information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Our SEC filings are also available to the public at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. These documents may also be accessed on our website at www.yumchina.com. Information contained on our website or connected thereto is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and you should not consider such information to be part of this prospectus. Information may also be obtained from us at Yum China Holdings, Inc., 7100 Corporate Drive, Plano, Texas 75024, telephone (469) 980-2898.

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus or to which this prospectus has referred you. Yum China has not authorized any person to provide you with different information or to make any representation not contained in this prospectus.

#### LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of common stock will be passed upon by Sidley Austin LLP on behalf of the Company.

#### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated balance sheets of Yum China Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated and combined statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017, and management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 have been incorporated by reference herein in reliance upon the report of KPMG Huazhen LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated by reference herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The audit report of KPMG Huazhen LLP contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the Company acquired the holding company of DAOJIA.com.cn ("Daojia") during 2017, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, Daojia's internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets of approximately 1% of the Company's total assets and total revenues of less than 1% of the Company's total revenues included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. The audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Daojia.

The audit report of KPMG Huazhen LLP also contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the combined financial statements, constituting the periods prior to October 31, 2016, include Yum! Brands, Inc.'s ("YUM") China businesses and operations and have been derived from the consolidated financial statements and underlying accounting records of YUM. The combined financial statements also include expense allocations for certain corporate functions historically provided by YUM. These allocations may not be indicative of the actual expenses which would have been incurred had the Company operated as a separate entity apart from YUM prior to October 31, 2016.

# PART II

# INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

# ITEM 14. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION.

The following table sets forth the costs and expenses payable by the registrant in connection with the issuance of the securities being registered. All amounts are estimates except the SEC registration fee.

Item	Amount
SEC registration fee	\$25,931
Legal fees and expenses	\$35,000
Accounting fees and expenses	\$12,000
Printing expenses	\$ 5,000
Total	\$77,931

# ITEM 15. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.

The DGCL authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and their stockholders for monetary damages for breaches of directors' fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability for any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, for acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, for unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions described by Section 174 of the DGCL or for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. The Company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes such an exculpation provision. The Company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that require the Company to indemnify, to the fullest extent allowable under the DGCL, directors or officers for monetary damages for actions taken as a director or officer of the Company or while serving at the Company's request as a director or officer or another position at another corporation or enterprise, as the case may be. The Company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation also provides that the Company must, subject to certain conditions, advance reasonable expenses to its directors and officers. The Company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation expressly authorizes the Company to carry directors' and officers' insurance to protect the Company and its directors, officers, employees and agents from certain liabilities.

# ITEM 16. EXHIBITS.

Exhibit

Number	Description of Exhibits
2.1†	<u>Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2016, by and among Yum! Brands, Inc., Yum Restaurants Consulting (Shanghai) Company Limited and Yum China Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Yum China Holdings, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 1, 2016).</u>
4.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Yum China Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Yum China Holdings, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 1, 2016).
4.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Yum China Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Yum China Holdings, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 1, 2016).
5.1*	Opinion of counsel of the Company.
23.1*	Consent of counsel of the Company (included in Exhibit 5.1 above).
23.2*	Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1	Power of Attorney (included on the signature page hereto).

- \* Filed herewith.
- † Certain schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedules and/or exhibits will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

#### ITEM 17. UNDERTAKINGS.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
  - (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;
  - (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement;
  - (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;
- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:
  - (i) Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and
  - (ii) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5) or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.

(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities:

The undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

- (i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
- (ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
- (iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and
- (iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

The undersigned registrant undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

# **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Shanghai, People's Republic of China, on February 27, 2018.

YUM CHINA HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /s/ Micky Pant
Name: Micky Pant

Title: Chief Executive Officer

# POWERS OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears immediately below constitutes and appoints Micky Pant, Joey Wat and Jacky Lo, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this registration statement, and to file the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	<u>Title</u>	<u>Date</u>
/s/ Micky Pant Micky Pant	Chief Executive Officer and Director (principal executive officer)	February 27, 2018
/s/ Jacky Lo Jacky Lo	Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)	February 27, 2018
/s/ Xueling Lu Xueling Lu	Controller (principal accounting officer)	February 27, 2018
/s/ Peter A. Bassi Peter A. Bassi	Director	February 27, 2018
/s/ Christian L. Campbell Christian L. Campbell	Director	February 27, 2018
/s/ Ed Yiu-Cheong Chan Ed Yiu-Cheong Chan	Director	February 27, 2018

February 27, 2018     February 27, 2018	Signature	<u>Title</u>	Date
/s/ Louis T. Hsieh Louis T. Hsieh  /s/ Fred Hu Fred Hu  /s/ Jonathan S. Linen  /s/ Ruby Lu Ruby Lu  /s/ Zili Shao  /s/ William Wang  /s/ William Wang  /s/ Joey Wat  Director  February 27, 2018	/s/ Edouard Ettedgui	Director	February 27, 2018
Louis T. Hsieh  /s/ Fred Hu  /s/ Jonathan S. Linen Jonathan S. Linen Jonathan S. Linen  /s/ Ruby Lu Ruby Lu  /s/ Zili Shao  /s/ William Wang  /s/ William Wang  /s/ Joey Wat  Director  Director  Director  February 27, 2018	Edouard Ettedgui		
Louis T. Hsieh    Solution   February 27, 2018     Fred Hu	/s/ Louis T. Hsieh	Director	February 27, 2018
Fred Hu  /s/ Jonathan S. Linen Jonathan S. Linen  /s/ Ruby Lu Ruby Lu  /s/ Zili Shao Zili Shao Zili Shao Director  /s/ William Wang  /s/ William Wang  /s/ Joey Wat  Director  February 27, 2018	Louis T. Hsieh	<del>-</del>	,
Fred Hu  /s/ Jonathan S. Linen Jonathan S. Linen  /s/ Ruby Lu Ruby Lu  /s/ Zili Shao Zili Shao Zili Shao Director  /s/ William Wang  /s/ William Wang  /s/ Joey Wat  Director  February 27, 2018	/s/ Fred Hu	Director	February 27, 2018
Jonathan S. Linen  /s/ Ruby Lu  Ruby Lu  /s/ Zili Shao  Zili Shao  Director  February 27, 2018  /s/ William Wang  Director  February 27, 2018  February 27, 2018  February 27, 2018  President, Chief Operating Officer and Director  February 27, 2018			
Jonathan S. Linen  /s/ Ruby Lu  Ruby Lu  /s/ Zili Shao Zili Shao Director  Director  February 27, 2018  /s/ William Wang  Director  Director  February 27, 2018  /s/ William Wang  Director  February 27, 2018  /s/ Joey Wat  President, Chief Operating Officer and Director  February 27, 2018	/s/ Jonathan S. Linen	Director	February 27, 2018
Ruby Lu  /s/ Zili Shao Director February 27, 2018  /s/ William Wang Director February 27, 2018  /s/ William Wang President, Chief Operating Officer and Director February 27, 2018	Jonathan S. Linen	_ Saction	1 cordary 27, 2010
Ruby Lu  /s/ Zili Shao Director February 27, 2018  /s/ William Wang Director February 27, 2018  /s/ William Wang President, Chief Operating Officer and Director February 27, 2018	/s/ Ruby Lu	Director	February 27 2018
Zili Shao  /s/ William Wang Director February 27, 2018  William Wang  /s/ Joey Wat President, Chief Operating Officer and Director February 27, 2018		_ Director	1 cordary 27, 2010
Zili Shao  /s/ William Wang Director February 27, 2018  William Wang  /s/ Joey Wat President, Chief Operating Officer and Director February 27, 2018	/s/ Zili Shao	Director	February 27, 2018
William Wang  /s/ Joey Wat  President, Chief Operating Officer and Director  February 27, 2018		_ Director	1 ebiuary 27, 2010
William Wang  /s/ Joey Wat  President, Chief Operating Officer and Director  February 27, 2018	/s/ William Wang	Director	Echminus 27, 2010
		_ Director	Febluary 27, 2016
	/c/ Jooy Wat		Ed 27 2010
Joey Wat	Joey Wat	President, Chief Operating Officer and Director	February 27, 2018



SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP ONE SOUTH DEARBORN STREET CHICAGO, IL 60603 +1 312 853 7000 +1 312 853 7036

AMERICA · ASIA PACIFIC · EUROPE

February 27, 2018

Yum China Holdings, Inc. 7100 Corporate Drive Plano, Texas 75024

Re: Registration Statement on Form S-3

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We refer to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (the "<u>Registration Statement</u>") being filed by Yum China Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Company</u>"), with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "<u>Securities Act</u>"), relating to the registration of 5,130,000 shares of common stock, \$0.01 par value per share (the "<u>Registered Shares</u>"), of the Company, which may be issued under the Yum China Holdings, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan (the "<u>Plan</u>").

This opinion letter is being delivered in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act.

We have examined the Registration Statement, the Company's certificate of incorporation, the Plan, resolutions adopted by the board of directors of the Company relating to the Registration Statement and resolutions adopted by the then sole stockholder of the Company relating to the Plan. We have also examined originals, or copies of originals certified to our satisfaction, of such agreements, documents, certificates and statements of the Company and other corporate documents and instruments, and have examined such questions of law, as we have considered relevant and necessary as a basis for this opinion letter. We have assumed the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity of all persons and the conformity with the original documents of any copies thereof submitted to us for examination. As to facts relevant to the opinion expressed herein, we have relied without independent investigation or verification upon, and assumed the accuracy and completeness of, certificates, letters and oral and written statements and representations of public officials and officers and other representatives of the Company.

Sidley Austin LLP is a limited liability partnership practicing in affiliation with other Sidley Austin partnerships.



Yum China Holdings, Inc. February 27, 2018 Page 2

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that each Registered Share that is newly issued pursuant to the Plan will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable when: (i) the Registration Statement shall have become effective under the Securities Act; (ii) such Registered Share shall have been duly issued and delivered in accordance with the Plan; and (iii) certificates representing such Registered Share shall have been duly executed, countersigned and registered and duly delivered to the person entitled thereto against payment of the agreed consideration therefor (in an amount not less than the par value thereof) or, if any Registered Share is to be issued in uncertificated form, the Company's books shall reflect the issuance of such Registered Share to the person entitled thereto against payment of the agreed consideration therefor (in an amount not less than the par value thereof), all in accordance with the Plan.

This opinion letter is limited to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. We express no opinion as to the laws, rules or regulations of any other jurisdiction, including, without limitation, the federal laws of the United States of America or any state securities or blue sky laws.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter as an Exhibit to the Registration Statement and to all references to our Firm included in or made a part of the Registration Statement. In giving such consent, we do not thereby admit that we are in the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act.

Very truly yours, /s/ Sidley Austin LLP

# **Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm**

The Board of Directors of Yum China Holdings, Inc.:

We consent to the use of our report dated February 27, 2018, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of YUM China Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated and combined statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2017, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, incorporated herein by reference and to the reference to our firm under the heading "Experts" in the prospectus.

The audit report contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the Company acquired the holding company of DAOJIA.com.cn ("Daojia") during 2017, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, Daojia's internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets of approximately 1% of the Company's total assets and total revenues of less than 1% of the Company's total revenues included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Daojia.

The audit report also contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the combined financial statements, constituting the periods prior to October 31, 2016, include Yum! Brands, Inc.'s ("YUM") China businesses and operations and have been derived from the consolidated financial statements and underlying accounting records of YUM. The combined financial statements also include expense allocations for certain corporate functions historically provided by YUM. These allocations may not be indicative of the actual expenses which would have been incurred had the Company operated as a separate entity apart from YUM prior to October 31, 2016.

/s/ KPMG Huazhen LLP

Shanghai, China February 27, 2018